I. INTRODUCTION

The trial court erred when it dismissed Marina Braun's Petition for

Reinterment because there are genuine issues of material fact regarding

the merits of the case. Rather than ruling on the narrow issue of law that

had been extensively briefed in relation to Respondents' Motion to

Dismiss, the trial court inexplicably ruled on the merits after denyingMs.

Braun any discovery in the matter or giving her the opportunity to

adequately refute Respondents' biased and self-serving version of the

facts. This Court should reverse the dismissal and remand the case to the

Superior Court for discovery and a fair trial on the merits.

Marina Braun petitioned under RCW 68.50.200 to have the

remains ofher son, Kyril Faenov, transferred from a cemetery in Seattle,

Washington to her family cemetery plot in Portland, Oregon. Ms. Braun

filed the Petition because two years after his death, her son was still

interred in an unmarked grave in a Seattle cemetery; because her son no

longer had any family living in Seattle; because her son's widow forcibly

opposed all efforts to memorialize his gravesite; and because his widow

took affirmative steps to erase his name and good memory. Ms. Braun

wants to transfer her son's remains where he can be surrounded in

memoriam by his extended family, his memory can be respectfully and
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befittingly honored, and his grave can be maintained with a permanent

headstone in accordance with Jewish law and practice.

The Petition was opposed by Kyril's widow, Lauren Selig, her

father, Martin Selig, (who paid for the Seattle burial plot), and the Temple

de Hirsch Sinai, the owner of the Hills of Eternity cemetery.

The Seligs brought a Civil Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss the Petition

based on the narrow legal argument that the trial court did not have

authority to grant the Petition under RCW 68.50.200, because reinterment

would violate the terms of a written contract, which is impermissible

under the statute. The Seligs argued that reinterment would violate the

purchase agreement Mr. Selig signed for the burial plot because it stated

he was granted the "right of perpetual interment" for Kyril's remains.

The trial court granted the Seligs' Motion for a Protective Order

and barred Ms. Braun from conducting any discovery in the case until

after the court ruled on the motion to dismiss, reasoning that no discovery

was necessary to respond to the narrow legal issue before the court.

'The trial court converted the Seligs' motion todismiss toa motion for summary
judgment because Lauren Selig and Martin Selig filed declarations, with exhibits, in
support of their CR 12(b)(6) motion. (CP at 284-85.)
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The parties filed extensive briefing focused on how RCW

68.50.200 and related statutes should beinterpreted.2 At the hearing on

the motion, however, the trial court ultimately ignored the legal issue the

parties briefed, failed to properly evaluate the equitable merits of the

reinterment Petition, and then improperly dismissed the Petition without

having a complete record or even permitting Ms. Braun to conduct any

discovery.

The court failed to give Ms. Braun any notice that it was

considering a ruling on the merits, therefore depriving her of an

opportunity to present her evidence and arguments demonstrating why

dismissal on the merits would be improper. The court's error was

compounded because it barred Ms. Braun from conducting any discovery

before the hearing, and then denied her motion under Civil Rule 56(f) to

conduct discovery and present additional evidence to the Court.

Ms. Braun therefore appeals the trial court's orders dismissing the

Petition and denying her right to conduct discovery.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by failing to apply the proper equitable

analysis to determine the merits of the Petition for Reinterment.

!The Temple de Hirsch joined in the Motion to Dismiss and filed its ownbriefs.
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2. The trial court erred when it dismissed Ms. Braun's reinterment

Petition without providing her with adequate notice and

opportunity to be heard on the facts, circumstances and equities

at issue.

3. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment to

Respondents when the record was incomplete, and genuine

issues of material fact and credibility existed.

4. The trial court erred when it barred Ms. Braun from conducting

any discovery before dismissing the Petition on its merits.

5. The trial court erred when it denied Ms. Braun's request for

discovery under CR 56(f), and discovery was needed to

develop the relevant equitable facts and circumstances, and to

resolve important issues regarding Ms. Selig's veracity.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Ms. Braun's Petition Sets Forth Compelling Reasons for
Reinterment.

Kyril Faenov died on May 25, 2012, a victim of suicide. (CP at

55.) He was buried at the Hills of Eternity Cemetery, in the Queen Anne

neighborhood of Seattle. (CP at 55.) Rights to the funeral plot were

purchased by his father-in-law, Martin Selig. (CP at 55.) The cemetery

was selected and funeral arrangements were made by Ms. Selig without



consulting with Ms. Braun, or with Mr. Faenov's father, Anatoly Faenov.

(CP at 55, 462-463, 499-500.)

More than two years later, Ms. Braun filed a Petition pursuant to

RCW 68.50.200 to have her son's remains reinterred to the family's

cemetery plot in Portland, Oregon. Ms. Braun filed the Petition so that her

son could be buried near close family members, and to ensure that her

son's grave would be memorialized with a permanent headstone in

accordance with Jewish law, and faithfully maintained and preserved in

the future. (CP 1; 6; 8-9; 56-57). The Petition was supported by

declarations from Ms. Braun, Eugene Luskin, and Rabbi Joshua Stamper.

(CP at 53-78.) These declarations set forth compelling facts and

circumstances supporting reinterment.

1. After Kyril Died, Ms. Selig Distanced Herself and Her

Children from His Name and His Memory.

After Kyril's death, Ms. Selig took affirmative steps to separate

herself and Kyril's two children from him and all memories of him. (CP

at 55.) Shortly after the funeral, she shut down Kyril's personal website,

"Faenov.com." (CP at 55.) Soon thereafter, she eliminated all public

access to the website memorial "imorial.com/kyrilfaenov," where more

than a hundred heartfelt tributes were posted during the first few weeks

after Kyril's death. (CPat55.)
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Less than two months after Kyril died, Ms. Selig changed her three

and six year old daughters' last names from Faenov to Selig. (CP at 55

and 62-63.) About three months after Kyril died, Ms. Selig formally

registered a new movie production business in Beverly Hills, California,

and in October of 2012 she purchased a home there. (CP at 466-467, 488-

498.)3 Ms. Selig moved with the children to Beverly Hills. This left Mr.

Faenov with no family members in Seattle. (CP at 55.)

2. Ms. Selig Left Mr. Faenov's Grave Unmarked.

In 2013, Eugene Luskin, a good friend of Kyril's, contacted Ms.

Selig to ask when she was going to unveil Kyril's headstone at the

gravesite. (CP at 72.) (According to the Jewish tradition, this unveiling is

supposed to happen on or around the one-year death anniversary.) Ms.

Selig did not respond to these inquiries. (CP at 72.)

Ms. Braun organized a one-year anniversary memorial on May 25,

2013 with friends to place flowers on Kyril's grave and to honor his

memory. (CPat55.) No headstone had been placed on Kyril's grave.

(CP at 55, 65, 67, 73.)

Sometime after the one year anniversary had passed, Mr. Luskin

contacted Mr. Selig and received permission to install a headstone for

There is strong circumstantial evidence that Ms. Selig had made plans to move
to California before Mr. Faenov died. (CP at 466-67,488-498.)
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Kyril's grave. (CP at 72.) Mr. Luskin and other friends of Kyril then

purchased an appropriate headstone and had it installed in late September

or early October of 2013. (CP at 72-75.)

3. Ms. Selig Forcibly Removed the Headstone and Left Mr.
Faenov's Grave Unmarked Again.

On March 4, 2014, Ms. Braun visited her son's grave on the

occasion ofhis 40th birthday. (CP at 56.) To her great distress, she

discovered that the headstone installed by Kyril's friends had been

removed. (CP at 56.) All that was left was a barren space where the

gravestone had been. (CP at 56, 69.)

Ms. Braun spoke to Mr. Luskin and Dan, the cemetery's

groundskeeper. Both reported that they had received threatening calls

from Ms. Selig demanding that the headstone be removed. (CP at 56, 73.)

Dan put Ms. Braun in touch with the company that made the headstone,

Quiring Monuments. (CP at 56.) Ms. Braun was told by an employee

there that Ms. Selig had called and threatened them with a lawsuit if they

did not remove the headstone, and they felt they had no choice but to

comply. (CPat56.)

Ms. Braun returned to Seattle on May 25, 2014, for the two year

anniversary of Kyril's death. (CP at 56.) The grave still remained

unmarked, except for a very small white object that the cemetery placed

there to provide some measure of dignity to the unmarked grave. (CP at

56,71.)
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Because Kyril had strong ties to Portland and his closest family

members are buried there, Ms. Braun filed a petition to transfer Kyril's

remains to the Neveh Zedek Jewish Cemetery in Portland. Kyril, his

mother, and his grandparents all emigrated from Russia and settled in the

Portland, Oregon area. (CP at 53.) Kyril resided in Portland until 1998.

(CP at 53-54.) In 1998, Microsoft purchased a start-up company founded

by Kyril. As a result, Kyril became a Microsoft employee and moved to

Seattle. (CP at 54.) While living in Seattle, Kyril remained close to his

family living in Portland. (CP at 54.) His grandparents and stepfather,

who died in the last decade, are all buried together in the Neveh Zedek

Jewish Cemetery in Portland. (CP at 54.) Ms. Braun, who was diagnosed

with cancer in 2012, will be buried in the same cemetery next to her

husband and parents. (CP at 54.) Prior to filing the Petition, Ms. Braun

secured an available plot for her son next to his grandparents. (CP at 57.)

She also obtained approval for the reinterment of Kyril's remains from the

Portland cemetery and the synagogue that operates it.4 (CP at 57.)

4
According to Rabbi Joshua Stampfer from the Portland synagogue, it is a long

and reverently observed Jewish tradition for family members to be buried in close
proximity to each other, and in a location that living family members can frequently visit.
(CP at 77.) According to Rabbi Stampfer, historically bodies have been transported
many thousands of miles and reinterred in new gravesites to allow family members to be
brought together. (CP at 77). Under Jewish law and practice, a headstone or monument
is to be placed on all graves so that the dead may be remembered and honored. (CP at
78.)
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B. The Seligs Moved to Dismiss the Petition on Narrow Legal
Grounds.

The Seligs opposed Ms. Braun's Petition for Reinterment by filing

a Motion to Dismiss under Civil Rule 12(b)(6) on August 6, 2014.

As previously discussed, the Seligs' Motion to Dismiss was

premised on the legal argument that the Court did not have the legal

authority to grant the Petition under RCW 68.50.200 because doing so

would violate the terms of the written purchase agreement between Mr.

Selig and the Cemetery. (CP at 88 and 139.) The Seligs specifically

argued that "based on this written contract, the Petition fails as a matter of

law and it should be dismissed with prejudice." (CP at 88.)

This very narrow legal issue was presented as the sole ground for

dismissal. The Seligs wrote "[b]ased on this written contract, the Petition

fails as a matter of law." (CP at 88.) They also argued "[t]he Interment

Agreement is a legally enforceable set of promises that will be violated if

the Petition is granted, [which] is impermissible under RCW 68.50.200."

(CP at 97.)

Declarations from Ms. Selig, Mr. Selig, and their counsel (CP 82-

139) were filed with the Motion to Dismiss, which led the court to convert
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themotion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment. (CP at 284-85.)5

The Seligs considered their legal argument based upon the

language ofRCW 68.50.200 and the existence of the burial agreement to

be so simple and clear that they requested sanctions against Ms. Braun and

her counsel for filing a petition that was so obviously"fatally flawed from

the outset." (CP at 92, 96-98.)6

The Seligs' Motion to Dismiss did not include any sort of request

that the court rule on the factual or equitable merits of the underlying

Petition. (CP 84-98.)

C. Ms. Braun was Barred from Conducting Any Discovery
Because the Motion to Dismiss Was Supposed to Be Limited to
a Single Legal Issue.

On August 13, 2014, Ms. Braun served interrogatories and requests

for production on Lauren Selig, Martin Selig, and the Temple de Hirsch

Sinai. (CP 228-251.) Ms. Braun also noted the depositions of Martin

In her declaration, Ms. Selig offered explanations for some of her conduct
following Mr. Faenov's death. She said, for example, that she changed her three and six
year old daughters' last names from Faenov to Selig because that is what the children
wanted. (CP at 135.) She also said that she did not mark the grave for over two years
because she was waiting until her children were old enough to help her design a
headstone. (CP at 135.) She did not dispute the allegations that she threatened those
responsible for putting up a headstone or that she had it removed, or that she took down
Mr. Faenov's website and on-line memorial. (CP 132-135.)

The sanctions argument had no merit, and the Seligs did not pursue the request
in further briefing or oral argument on the Motion to Dismiss.
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Selig, the groundskeeper "Dan" at the Temple de Hirsch Sinai, and a CR

30(b)(6) representative of the Temple. (CP at 228-251, 272-73.)

The Seligs filed a Motion for a Protective Order on all discovery,

on the ground that no discovery was needed to resolve the narrow legal

arguments raised by their motion. (CP at 259-268.) Specifically, the

Seligs argued they should not have to provide discovery that would have

"no relevance to the single issue presented by the Motion to Dismiss,

namely whether the terms of the Interment Agreement, which are

incorporated by reference into the Petition, bar relief under RCW

68.50.200." (CP at 262.)7 Because discovery was notneeded to resolve

this single statutory issue, the Seligs requested that all discovery be stayed

until the court ruled on the motion to dismiss. (CP at 262, 266-268.)

The Temple joined in the Seligs' Motion for a Protective Order

(CP at 271-275), arguing that discovery be stayed because the Seligs'

Motion to Dismiss was based on a discrete narrow issue of law. (CP at

272, 274.) "[Gjiven the pending Motion to Dismiss, which TDHS

understands is based on a legal issue related to the contract for Mr.

7In the same pleading, the Seligs reiterated that "the Motion toDismiss
addressed a single issue: "Does RCW 68.50.200 permit the Court to override Ms. Selig's
decision... if such an outcome violates the terms of a written contract?" (CP at 266.)
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Faenov's interment, it appears that the discovery sought...is premature."

(CPat272.)8

On September 5, 2014, the trial court issued its "Order Granting

Motion to Stay Discovery Pending Resolution of Defendants' Motion to

Dismiss." (CP at 354-358.) The court reasoned that "a brief stay of

discovery need not prejudice any party ...." (CP at 356.) "In short", the

Court said it was "willing to test the Seligs' argument that the case can be

adjudicated without discovery...." (CP at 357.)

In that same order, the trial court requested supplemental briefing

on four questions relating to the Seligs' Motion to Dismiss. (CP at 356-

357.)9

Ms. Braun opposed the motion, arguing that she should at least be able to
conduct discovery relevant to the issues raised by the motion to dismiss. (CP at 288-
298.)

9The court's fourquestions were:

1) Can the Agreement of Interment ("Agreement") between
Temple De Hirsch Sinai("Temple") and Martin Seligbe breached if
there is no act or omission by the Temple or by Mr. Selig that
constitutes a breach of the contract?

2) Can an act or omissionby a person who is not a party to the
agreement be legallydeemedto constitutea "breach" of the agreement?

3) Assuming that every person at the Temple's cemetery have
been interred pursuant to a written agreement with terms that are
basically identical to the terms of the Agreement, would every
disinterment necessarily be a breach of such an agreement? If so, when,
if ever, would any court be permitted to exercise the statutory
discretion conferred on the Court under RCW 68.50.200 to allow

disinterment?
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D. The Court's Questions for Supplemental Briefing Had Nothing
to Do with the Factual or Equitable Merits of Reinterment.

The court's request for supplemental briefing did not put Ms.

Braun on notice that the court was going to rule at the upcoming hearing

on the overall factual or equitable merits of the underlying Petition. (CP

357.) The first three questions related to the Seligs' legal arguments

regarding RCW 68.50.200. (CP at 356-357.) The fourth question asked

whether Ms. Braun had waived her right to object to her son's interment in

the Seattle cemetery.10

Because Ms. Braun was never given the opportunity to conduct

discovery, she was limited in her ability to rebut many of the inaccurate

and misleading statements made by Ms. Selig in her August 5, 2014,

declaration. With regard to the alleged waiver issue raised by Ms. Selig,

Ms. Braun noted that waiver generally presents a question of fact for trial,

and provided declarations from Ms. Braun (CP at 462-498) and Anatoly

Faenov (CP at 499-509) to demonstrate that no waiver occurred. Ms.

Braun's declaration also addressed certain inaccurate and misleading

4) Did Petitioner waive her right to object to the interment of Mr.
Faenov's remains at the Hills of Eternity Cemetery in 2012?

From this fourth question, one can reasonably conclude that the Court had
read and given some credence to Ms. Selig's Declaration, wherein she stated that she
discussed the choice of the Hills of Eternity Cemetery with Ms. Braun before the funeral
and Ms. Braun did not object at that time. (CP at 133.)
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statements in Ms. Selig's August 5, 2014 declaration which should have

cast doubt onMs. Selig's credibility (CP at462-467).11

E. Ms. Braun Brought in an Expert in Cemetery Law to Assist the
Court in Interpreting the Statutes at Issue in the Motion to
Dismiss.

In opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, Ms. Braun also filed a

detailed Declaration of Professor Tanya Marsh from the Wake Forest

University School of Law. (CP at 406-461.) Professor Marsh is an expert

in the laws of cemeteries, disinterment and reinterment. (CP at 406-407,

423-428.) This declaration was submitted in order to provide the court

with the common law and historical background for the Washington

statutes at issue, along with an analysis of similar states' statutes. (CP at

392-393, 406.)

Based upon this largely historical analysis, Professor Marsh

concluded that the Washington statutes at issue permitted reinterment in

cases such as this. (CP at 408, 421-422.) After an extensive discussion of

reinterment under the common law (CP at 408-413) and under a highly

analogous state statutory scheme (CP 414-418), Professor Marsh showed

that the burial contract Mr. Selig signed was likely not the type of "written

Without any discovery, Ms. Braun provided evidence from her own
knowledge and limited investigation that Ms. Selig's statements regarding her alleged
conversations with Ms. Braun before the funeral, her communications with Ms. Braun
after the funeral, the timing of her decision to move to California, and her decision to
change the names of her daughters were all false or misleading. (CP at 462-498.)
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contract" the Washington Legislature was concerned about, or would be

violated by reinterment. (CP at418-422.)12

F. The Court Failed to Give Ms. Braun Notice that it Intended to

Rule on the Merits.

The narrow legal issue of statutory interpretation raised by the

Seligs' Motion to Dismiss remained the focus of all the proceedings

leading up to the November 21, 2014, hearing. Likewise, the briefing by

all parties focused on the narrow question of law upon which the Seligs

based their Motion to Dismiss. None of the Respondents' arguments

sought dismissal based upon the factual or equitable merits of the

Petition.13 And at no time before it issued its oral ruling dismissing the

Petition did the court ever indicate that it was considering ruling on the

merits.

On August 13, 2014, Ms. Braun moved to continue the hearing

date on the Motion to Dismiss because her counsel had scheduling

conflicts. (CP at 141-147.) The Seligs vigorously opposed the

continuance, arguing that their motion to dismiss posed a simple,

12 The Seligs and the Temple moved tostrike Professor Marsh's declaration on
the groundthat she was giving improperexpert opinions (CP at 550-551, 566-567), but
the Court denied that motion. (RP at 26:15-24.)

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