12948-9 No. 7294-9-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re: The Reinterment of the Remains of Kyril Faenov

MARINA BRAUN,

Appellant

v.

LAUREN SELIG, MARTIN SELIG and TEMPLE DE HIRSCH SINAI,

Respondents

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. John R. Ruhl)

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TEMPLE DE HIRSCH SINAI.

Gail E. Mautner, WSBA No. 13161 Tamara Y. Fountain, WSBA No. 36585 Attorneys for Respondent Temple de Hirsch Sinai, as owners of the Hills of Eternity Cemetery

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, WA 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000 Facsimile: 206.223.7107



### **

#### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court properly grant summary judgment when there is no genuine issue of material fact and, as a matter of law, Lauren Selig has an exclusive, continuing right under RCW 68.50.160 and RCW 68.50.200 to control the disposition of her husband, Kyril Faenov's remains?
- 2. Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion when it ruled that the equitable considerations argued by Ms. Marina Braun do not justify reinterment of Mr. Faenov's remains, where the facts, circumstances and equities argued by Ms. Braun in her Petition and briefing do not demonstrate a necessity or a compelling equitable reason to disturb the surviving spouse's decision?
- 3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it denied Ms. Braun's request for discovery under Civil Rule 56(f) on that grounds that discovery would not have been material to the Court's resolution of the issues presented by Ms. Braun's Petition?

#### III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual Background

The following facts are undisputed. Kyril Faenov and Lauren Selig met in Seattle and began dating in early 2000. (CP at 132-33.) In

the summer of 2003, they were married at the Scimatar Ridge Ranch in Anacortes. (CP at 133.) In 2002 they bought a house in the Madison Park neighborhood and continued to live and work in Seattle throughout their marriage. (CP at 133.) Their two daughters were born in Seattle in 2005 and 2009. (CP at 133.)

On May 25, 2012, Mr. Faenov committed suicide. (CP at 133.) Ms. Selig selected the Hills of Eternity Cemetery, operated by Temple De Hirsch Sinai ("TDHS"), in Queen Anne and made the arrangements for her husband's funeral. (CP at 133.) Ms. Selig's father, Respondent Martin Selig, entered into an Interment Agreement with TDHS to obtain "the right of perpetual interment" for Mr. Faenov in the Hills of Eternity Cemetery. (CP at 137.)

In Jewish tradition, a headstone is not added to the gravesite for the first year after death. (CP at 135.) In late September of 2013, some of Kyril's friends placed a headstone on Kyril's grave without obtaining consent from Ms. Selig. (CP at 37-38.) This headstone was later removed. (CP at 5.) In March 2014, Kyril's mother, Marina Braun, visited her son's grave and was distressed to find it unmarked. (CP at 18.) She subsequently filed a petition to have her son's remains removed from the Hills of Eternity Cemetery and moved to a cemetery in Portland,

Oregon. (CP at 1.) Kyril's grave is currently marked with a headstone installed by Ms. Selig. (CP at 152.)

#### B. Procedural Background

Ms. Braun filed her Petition to Reinter on June 26, 2014. (CP at 9.) Respondents Ms. Selig and Mr. Selig, later joined by TDHS, subsequently filed a Motion to Dismiss Ms. Braun's Petition. (CP at 84-100, 375.) Ms. Braun filed a Motion to Continue, arguing that the Motion to Dismiss should be considered as a motion for summary judgment, and that more time was needed for discovery. (CP at 141.) A continuance was granted on August 26, 2014, (CP at 283), and Ms. Braun subsequently filed her Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, including a request for discovery pursuant to CR 56(f). (CP at 404.)

The Seligs, joined by TDHS, then filed a Motion for Protective Order Staying Discovery, arguing that the requested discovery would be burdensome and unnecessary. (CP at 262-63.) This Motion was granted on September 8, 2014. (CP at 354.) At that time, the court further ordered that the parties provide supplemental briefing in response to four questions relating to the parties' statutory and contractual arguments, as well as the argument that Ms. Braun waived her right to object to the placement of her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although the motion was styled a "Motion to Dismiss," the parties subsequently treated it as a motion for summary judgment pursuant to CR 56. RP at 6:24; 20:12-16.

son's remains by participating in his funeral. (CP at 356-57.) The parties addressed these questions through supplemental briefing to the court. (See CP at 368-74 (Seligs); CP at 375-84 (TDHS); CP at 531-47 (Ms. Braun).)

On November 21, 2014, the parties presented oral arguments on the defendants' motion. The court granted the Respondents' motion and denied Ms. Braun's Petition to Reinter. (RP at 44:11-12.) In so ruling, the trial court determined that, although the Interment Agreement does not prevent it from exercising judicial authority to provide substitute consent, the facts and circumstances of this case, as argued by Ms. Braun, did not present a compelling equitable reason to do so. (RP at 47:9-23.)

#### IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews a grant of summary judgment de novo and engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Trimble v. Washington State Univ.*, 140 Wn.2d 88, 92, 993 P.2d 259 (2000). The court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and sustains the summary judgment if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Marincovich v. Tarabochia*, 114 Wn.2d 271, 274, 787 P.2d 562 (1990). The court must view all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, but "[s]uch facts must move beyond

mere speculative and argumentative assertions." Adams v. King Cnty., 164 Wn.2d 640, 647, 192 P.3d 891 (2008) (citing Retired Pub. Employees Council of Wash. v. Charles, 148 Wn.2d 602, 612–13, 62 P.3d 470 (2003)).

A trial court's denial of a motion for discovery pursuant to CR 56(f) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Pitzer v. Union Bank of California*, 141 Wn.2d 539, 556, 9 P.3d 805 (2000). A court abuses its discretion only if "no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial court." *Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Okanogan Cnty. v. State*, 182 Wn.2d 519, 531, 342 P.3d 308 (2015).

B. Based on the Facts Alleged and Arguments Made in Ms. Marina
Braun's Petition, And As a Matter of Law, Ms. Braun Cannot
Override Ms. Lauren Selig's Legal Right to Control Her
Husband's Remains

Under Washington law, the next of kin (in this case, the surviving spouse) has the legal right to protect and preserve the remains of the decedent, including the right to choose the place of interment *and to maintain that choice*. See RCW 68.50.160; RCW 68.50.200; Herzl Congregation v. Robinson, 142 Wash. 469, 473, 253 P. 654 (1927). Human remains may be moved from their resting place only with the consent of both the cemetery authority and the next of kin, as defined in the statutory hierarchy. RCW 68.50.200. The court has limited authority

to provide substitute consent for one or both of these parties, but only if the appropriate parties are not available to provide consent, and only if providing substitute consent would not violate the terms of a written agreement. *Id.* Ms. Selig, as the next of kin, holds the statutory and common law right to control her husband's remains. She has chosen to keep her husband's remains in the grave she selected for him, and that choice cannot be challenged by another family member who is unhappy with her decisions. Simply put, the legislative scheme rejects a "level playing field" as between the primacy accorded the surviving spouse under the statute and a challenging family member who wishes to undermine that choice by seeking relief from a trial court. The court does not have the statutory authority to override her wishes because she is available and has declined to consent, and because doing so would violate the terms of the written Interment Agreement. RCW 68.50.200.

#### 1. Principles of Statutory Interpretation

The object of statutory interpretation is "to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature." *Hartman v. Washington State Game Comm'n*, 85 Wn.2d 176, 179, 532 P.2d 614 (1975). To accomplish this, the Court must first look to the plain meaning of the statutory language. *Rivard v. State*, 168 Wn.2d 775, 783, 231 P.3d 186 (2010). If the meaning of the statute is clear on its face, then that plain meaning must

be given effect. *HomeStreet, Inc. v. State, Dep't of Revenue*, 166 Wn. 2d 444, 451-52, 210 P.3d 297 (2009). Courts must "give effect to all language, so as to render no portion meaningless or superfluous." *Rivard*, 168 Wn.2d at 783.

As a general rule, "[t]he common law, so far as it is not inconsistent with the Constitution and laws of the United States, or of the state of Washington nor incompatible with the institutions and condition of society in this state, shall be the rule of decision in all the courts of this state." RCW 4.04.010. Thus, when interpreting a statute that addresses the same subject matter as the prior common law, the Court must ascertain whether the statute was in fact intended to change the common law. *Wichert v. Cardwell*, 117 Wash. 2d 148, 154, 812 P.2d 858, 861 (1991) (citing RCW 4.04.010). Where the statute was clearly designed as a substitute for the prior common law, the statute must be construed in accordance with its plain meaning. *State ex rel. Madden v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Douglas Cnty.*, 83 Wn. 2d 219, 221-22, 517 P.2d 585, 587 (1973).

If the court finds that the language of the statute may be given more than one reasonable interpretation, then it may look to legislative history to determine the statute's meaning. *Christensen v. Ellsworth*, 162 Wn.2d 365, 373, 173 P.3d 228 (2007). In order to ascertain the legislative intent behind a statute, the Court must consider the state of the law prior to

the statute's adoption. State ex rel. Madden, 83 Wn. 2d at 221; see also Peet v. Mills, 76 Wash. 437, 439-40, 136 P. 685 (1913). "It is a general rule of interpretation to assume that the legislature was aware of the established common law rules applicable to the subject matter of the statute when it was enacted." State ex rel. Madden, 83 Wn. 2d at 221. The court will also consider clearly stated or previously existing public policy concerns when interpreting an ambiguous statute. Sedlacek v. Hillis, 145 Wn.2d 379, 389-390, 36 P.3d 1014 (2001).

# 2. Ms. Selig Has the Statutory Right to Control the Remains of Her Husband, Mr. Kyril Faenov

Washington statutory and equitable common law both provide that the next of kin, in this case, the surviving spouse, has the right to control the remains of a loved one. *See* RCW 68.50.160; *Herzl Congregation*, 142 Wash. at 473. This right "is not only a natural right, embracing a high order of sentiment," but is now well recognized as a legal right. *Guilliume v. McCulloch*, 173 Wash. 694, 696, 24 P.2d 93 (1933). Although it arose at common law, it has since been codified in the laws of many states, including Washington. *Herzl Congregation*, 142 Wash. at 471 (citing Rem. Comp. Stats. § 6042).

The current statutes at issue, RCW 68.50.160 and RCW 68.50.200, were passed into law *together* in 1943. See General Cemetery Act, Laws

of 1943, ch. 247, § 29, 1943 Wash. Sess. Laws 743, 746 (originally codified at Rem. Supp. 1943, § 3778-29). First, this statutory language is clear and must be given effect. *See HomeStreet*, 166 Wn. 2d at 451-52. These statutes provide that, in the absence of prearrangements made by the decedent, both the right and the duty to control the disposition of the remains of a deceased person vest in a hierarchy of persons. RCW 68.50.160. Unless the decedent designated another person in writing, the right and duty to control the disposition of the decedent's remains vest first in the surviving spouse. RCW 68.50.160(3)(c). It would be absurd to imagine that our Legislature adopted a scheme under which the surviving spouse controls initial disposition pursuant to RCW 68.50.160, but that, immediately following interment, another family member is authorized by RCW 68.50.200 to approach the court seeking "substitute consent" to change that disposition.

Second, any ambiguity regarding the extent of the right conferred by this statute should be resolved by looking to the legislative history. *Christensen*, 162 Wn.2d at 373. This necessarily involves an analysis of the prior common law that the Legislature is presumed to have considered. *See State ex rel. Madden*, 83 Wn. 2d at 221. Under Washington common law, "the right to bury a corpse and to preserve its remains... belongs

exclusively to the next of kin." *Herzl Congregation*, 142 Wash. at 473; see also *Guilliume*, 173 Wash. at 697 (quoting *Herzl*).

The next of kin is also said to have a quasi-property right to the body itself, both before and after burial. *Guilliume*, 173 Wash. at 697; *Herzl Congregation*, 142 Wash. at 472. The next of kin holds the right to choose a place of interment, and to change that place at will. *Guilliume*, 173 Wash. at 697; *Herzl Congregation*, 142 Wash. at 473.

Because the common law in Washington provides the surviving spouse the "exclusive" right to determine the disposition of remains and explicitly states that this right continues after burial, the right conferred by the statue should also be understood as an exclusive, continuing right; the language of the statue does nothing to abrogate that common law principle. See RCW 4.04.010. At the minimum, cemeteries should be able to rely on the surviving spouse's continuing control and authority over the placement and disposition of a decedent who has been placed at rest in that cemetery, without challenges based on a different relative's unhappiness with those choices. As the surviving spouse, Ms. Selig has the express statutory right to control the disposition of her husband's remains. Therefore, the court should not disturb the remains of Mr. Faenov from the resting place chosen for him by his wife.

# 3. The Plain Meaning of RCW 68.50.160 and RCW 68.50.200 Require the Consent of the Surviving Spouse, Ms. Selig, and the Cemetery Authority to Any Reinterment

Permission to move remains once they are interred is governed by RCW 68.50.200. The statute provides that "[h]uman remains may be removed from a plot in a cemetery with the consent of the cemetery authority and the written consent of one of the following in the order named." RCW 68.50.200 (emphasis added). This does not mean that any person on the list may provide consent, but rather that the first person on the list who is available, holds the right to grant or deny consent. Cemeteries throughout the state should be able to continue to rely on the statutory hierarchy created by our Legislature for consent to removal, without their contracts of interment being subject to challenge by other family members.

By its plain meaning, this statute requires the consent of both the cemetery authority *and* the next of kin, as defined by the same statutory hierarchy used in RCW 68.50.160. Ms. Braun argues that, when a person on the list declines to provide consent, the court may continue down the list until a person does grant the required consent, effectively overriding the decision-making power of the next of kin who refused. (CP at 7.) Ms. Braun misconstrues the plain language of the statute, which specifies the order in which persons may provide the necessary consent. *See* RCW

68.50.200. To allow any listed person to provide consent, or to allow someone to seek court approval over the objection of the person with the statutory hierarchy, would rewrite the statute to exclude this specification that consent must be obtained from one of the following *in the order named. See id.* 

Ms. Braun's interpretation is also unsupported by the case law. She cites *Wood v. E.R. Butterworth & Sons*, 65 Wash. 344, 118 P. 212 (1911), for the proposition that the superior court may decide in equity that another family member may reinter the remains over the wishes of the surviving spouse. This argument mischaracterizes both the decision's precedential value and the court's holding.

First, Washington law has changed since *Wood* was decided in 1911 with the passage of the laws now codified at RCW 68.50.160 and RCW 68.50.200. The court in *Wood* relied entirely upon the common law, and did not have the benefit or constraints of the statutes as currently enacted. *See Wood*, 65 Wash. at 347. Ms. Braun's reliance on the court's decision is therefore misplaced.

Second, the court's decision was based on the clearly expressed wishes *of the deceased*, and was not an equitable decision that the sons' wishes should trump those of the surviving spouse. *Id.* at 349. The case involved a dispute between the surviving spouse and the surviving sons.

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